1953

# Michael V. Maloney v. Salt Lake City : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The accident in question happened at approximately 105 East South Temple Street, in front of the Eagle Gate Apartments. This is on the north side of South Temple just a short distance east of the intersection of South Temple and State Street. At this point the city maintains a sidewalk which runs east and west. Parallel to the city walk and adjoining it on the north the Eagle Gate Apartments maintain a strip of concrete. A section of the city sidewalk was fissured and cracked and had subsided, leaving a difference in elevation between the city sidewalk and the private walk, with the private walk being the higher of the two.

There is no dispute concerning the fact that the city sidewalk was fissured, cracked and weakened at the point in question, (Ex. A, B and C). There is also no dispute concerning the fact that there was a large cavity under the sidewalk at this point. The cavity was approximately three feet across and fourteen inches deep, (R. 97, 98 and Ex. No. 4). Appellant sustained injuries when this section of the city's sidewalk collapsed under his right foot, causing him to fall heavily on the pavement while his foot was still caught in the hole, (R. 40). The extent of his injuries is not an issue on appeal.

Before the matter went to the jury, the city made a motion for a directed verdict which the court took under advisement. The matter was then submitted to the jury. The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff for \$1,000.00 special damages, but awarded no general

damages. Thereafter, the court granted the motion for a directed verdict. In view of the fact that the main issue on appeal is the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict, we will forego a detailed discussion of the evidence here and discuss the evidence in connection with the argument.

## SPECIFICATIONS OF ERROR

1. The court erred in directing a verdict for the defendant in (a) that there was sufficient evidence that a dangerous defect existed in Respondent's sidewalk to submit the issue of negligence to the jury; (b) there was sufficient evidence that the defect had existed for a long enough period of time to constitute notice to the city of the defect; and (c) there was sufficient evidence to show that the defect of which the city had notice was the proximate cause of the injury.

2. The court erred in refusing to grant a new trial in view of the jury's failure to make an award of any general damages.

## ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I. THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE JURY'S VERDICT.

(a) The jury could reasonably have believed that Respondent's walk had subsided and that the subsidence had resulted in a substantial difference in elevation between the city walk and the private walk adjoining on the north.

In view of the favorable verdict and the court's granting of a directed verdict, plaintiff is entitled to the most favorable view of the evidence. Therefore, where there was a conflict, only that evidence favorable to plaintiff will be noted. There is evidence that the walk in the area of the collapse had been in general disrepair for many years before November 21, 1952, the date of the accident. Mr. Smith, Respondent's witness, testified there were "quite a number of cracks apparent in the concrete", and they had "been there for years", (R. 61). Mr. Turner, Respondent's witness, testified that there had been no essential change in the condition of the walk for six years, (R. 67). He testified particularly about a "wide crack", apparent before the collapse, (R. 66). Mr. Jongejan remembered cracks before the accident which had been there "ever so long", (R. 70). Appellant's Exhibits A, B and C are pictures of the general area and the hole into which appellant's foot dropped. They show a number of cracks around the hole of the kind Respondent's witnesses remember as having existed for many years before the accident. Appellant testified that the pictures fairly represented the condition, (R. 22). The jury could (and since it decided for plaintiff, we must assume it did) conclude that, except for the cavity, Exhibits A, B and C reflected the condition of the walk before the accident.

Mr. Novak, an engineer, stated definitely that the cracks now observable in the city walk and shown on the pictures (Ex. A, B and C) are at least four years old. He also testified that there was a general slope or decli-

nation of the surface areas toward and under a patch which was placed after the accident in repairing the hole, (R. 52-55). It is obvious from Exhibits A, B and C that when the cracks occurred they permitted or caused a general sloping of Respondent's walk on all sides toward the point of eventual collapse. The jury had an opportunity to form first-hand impressions about the slope of the walk approaching the patch through visiting the scene.

Appellant testified that on the Monday after the accident, there were differences in elevation between Respondent's walk and the private walk, varying from a half inch on one end of the hole to an inch on the other end, (R. 24, 25). Plaintiff is corroborated by Exhibits A, B and C, which definitely show the slab to the north to be higher. Even Exhibit 2, taken at such an angle as to minimize it, shows the difference. The differences were presumably even greater at the point of maximum depression within the section which collapsed, because Novak, the engineer, testified that the general slope of the area around the hole declined toward the hole, (R. 52-55).

The jury could have found that the difference in elevation testified to by Appellant existed before the accident. First, the pictures taken by Respondent were taken only minutes after the accident, (R. 75). They show from slightly different angles the exact thing shown by Appellant's pictures. In all the pictures a difference in elevation can be seen. The crack appears old and



there is nothing to indicate a recent change in elevation. At the trial counsel for the city showed the pictures to the jury and unsuccessfully argued that the pictures taken by the city and those offered by the Appellant showed that a decided change took place between the time the city's pictures and the Appellant's pictures were taken. We ask the court to carefully examine the pictures. We submit that they are photographs of an identical condition. The light down into the hole gives prominence to different things, but any close examination will reveal that no change took place after the city's pictures were taken. The difference in elevation clearly appears in Exhibits A and 2.

Secondly, all of the evidence given was to the effect that the cracks were old. Novak said that they were at least four years old, (R. 52-55). Mr. Turner said there had been no essential change in the walk for six years, (R. 67). Mr. Smith said there were a lot of cracks that had been there for years, (R. 61). Mr. Jongejan remembered cracks that had been there "ever so long", (R. 70). Also, attention has already been called to Mr. Turner's testimony that before the accident there was a wide crack in the pavement about "a half inch wide or so", (R. 66). He was Respondent's witness and he so testified on direct examination. There are only two cracks he could have been talking about, the crack marked X—X on Exhibit B, or the one marked Y—Y on Exhibit C. He testified that the "half-inch" crack was between two cement blocks (which crack X—X is not) and that it was not the crack (X—X) running from the

steps of the apartment house out toward the street. He must, therefore, have been referring to a half-inch crack between Respondent's walk and the private walk, (crack Y—Y). This, of course, is the crack referred to by Appellant as causing the difference in elevation. In this regard it might also be noted that while the city sought to meet this evidence by witnesses who had not noticed any difference in elevation (see Turner's testimony), *no witness testified that the difference in elevation noted by Appellant (R. 24-25) was a recent condition arising only after the accident.*

Third, Novak testified concerning the appearance of old cracks and how they differed in appearance from new cracks. The jury, thus informed, saw the crack in question as it sloped downward, (R. 100) into the cement patch. The jury also saw the pictures.

There is thus evidence from which a jury could have found that Respondent's walk had subsided many years before the accident, resulting in a substantial difference in elevation along about two feet of the joinder line between the city and the private walk. There is credible evidence that the difference was as much as an inch on one end of the hole and one-half inch on the other, (R. 24-25). The difference occurred because of a breaking and subsidence of the city walk, (R. 52), and not because of a defect or elevation of the private walk.

There are many Utah cases holding that it is a question for the jury whether a particular defect in a street or sidewalk is reasonably safe or dangerous for travel.

They are cited and the rule is stated in *Ray v. Salt Lake City*, 92 Utah 412, 119 A.L.R. 153. Among them are *Jones v. Ogden City*, 32 Utah 221; *Bills v. Salt Lake City*, 37 Utah 507; *Robinson v. Salt Lake City*, 40 Utah 497, and *Sweet v. Salt Lake City*, 43 Utah 306. In *Ray v. Salt Lake City*, Julia A. Ray tripped over a raised portion of sidewalk located opposite No. 115 on Kelsey Avenue. The difference in elevation between the cement sections there under consideration varied from  $\frac{1}{4}$  to  $\frac{7}{8}$  inches. This court said:

“We can not say that the specified difference in elevation is so slight that a careful or prudent person might not reasonably anticipate danger from its existence”, and “we think a particular defect in a street or sidewalk is reasonably safe or dangerous for travel depends not always upon the matter of difference of elevation or depression, but upon all the surrounding circumstances.”

What are the surrounding circumstances which may be important in determining whether or not a defect is dangerous? In *Johnson v. City of Ilwaco*, 229 P. (2d) 878, the Washington court, citing *Ray v. Salt Lake City*, supra, and concerning itself with this question said:

“The exact extent of the offset is not the only factor to be considered. The nature and character of the sidewalk, its location, the amount of travel over it by pedestrians, the extent to which its presence would ordinarily be seen or observed by travelers on the sidewalk, and many other conditions which might exist, all have to be taken into consideration.”

In the case at bar, the defect was located, according to the stipulation of the parties, (R. 99), near the intersection of two of Salt Lake City's busiest streets. It was immediately in front of a large apartment house, (Ex. 1). There was thus constant pedestrian traffic over the defective area.

Looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellant, therefore, it is evident that the negligence question is much more definitely for the jury in the instant case than it was in the *Ray* case. There is evidence here that the offset was greater than that in the *Ray* case— $\frac{1}{2}$ " to 1" here as compared to  $\frac{1}{4}$  inch to  $\frac{7}{8}$  inch there. The defect was on busy South Temple Street near State Street, as compared with Kelsey Avenue. It was directly in front of a large apartment. The jury reasonably decided that the defect was dangerous, and that, in the exercise of ordinary care the Respondent should have repaired it. On the question of the existence of a dangerous defect there was evidence sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict. We next turn to the question of notice.

- (b) The existence of the defect for a number of years at a location on one of Respondent's busy thoroughfares constituted notice to Respondent of the defect and its dangerous character.

One of the main issues presented to the court below was the issue of notice to the city of the defect. The city took the position that it had to have notice that there was a cavity under the sidewalk, and that if it did not

have such notice, it was not guilty of negligence. The Appellant took the position, and still does, that it was not necessary to his recovery that the city have either actual or constructive notice of the cavity. The crux of the Appellant's case in this regard involves the fact that the sidewalk was fissured, cracked and weakened at the point where the collapse occurred. There was, as is pointed out above, adequate evidence to support the jury's verdict to the effect that there was a difference in elevation of up to one inch on one of the cracks and that such a difference in elevation on one of the city's busiest streets created a dangerous condition. There is also adequate evidence, as is pointed out above, that this dangerous condition had existed for more than four years, which under the cases cited below is sufficient in point of time to give the city constructive notice of the existence of the crack. We are not contending that one can impute notice of one defect from the existence of a separate and independent defect. That is not the issue involved here. The defect of which the city had notice through the passing of time *was a crack* in the city sidewalk.

The crack in question created a dangerous situation. The danger from a broken walk is not confined to tripping. A person may also turn his ankle and fall. He may lose his balance because the broken part tilts. He might also have, as happened here, a collapsing of the broken section. Thus the same identical crack which presented a patent, visible danger, also caused the sidewalk to be weakened and contributed directly to its collapse. It is,

therefore, not a problem of attempting to impute notice of one defect from the existence of another. The defect here which caused the accident was a substantial crack in the sidewalk. This crack existed for over four years and the city, in the exercise of ordinary care, should have known of its existence.

The cases are clear that a jury can properly find that a city has notice of a defect if it exists on a main, heavily travelled street for a substantial period of time. In this regard, it is not necessary to go to cases from other jurisdictions. The problem has been presented to the Utah Supreme Court in many cases. In a recent Utah case, *Pollari v. Salt Lake City*, 111 Utah 25, 176 P. (2d) 111, this court said:

“The question of whether the city exercised proper vigilance to discover defects depends on the element of time, the nature and extent of the defect, its prominence in location and other factors bearing on what could reasonably be expected of a reasonably acting person charged with the duty of supervising miles of streets and sidewalks. We think under the facts and circumstances of this case the question of constructive notice was a question for the jury.”

In that case the defect had existed for approximately two years in a residential district of the city and was a small hole, “at most five inches by three inches by one and one-half inches deep”, located on the edge of the main walk. In the instant case the defect had existed, as the jury could reasonably have found, for twice as

long, was at least equally noticeable, and was located in an area of heavier pedestrian traffic.

The problem of notice was also presented to this court in *Scoville v. Salt Lake City*, 11 Utah 60, 39 P. 481, wherein the court said:

“The question of notice to Appellant was one of fact for the jury to determine, and not a question for the court (citing authorities). In Wisconsin where a defect in a sidewalk existed one day, and in Massachusetts, where a defect in a highway existed 13 hours, and in Connecticut a few hours from frozen water, it was held that it was for the jury to determine whether that constituted sufficient notice (citing cases). This defect and accumulation of ice was on the most travelled walk in the city. The question of notice is not alone determined from the length of time a defect has existed, but was from the nature and character of the defect, the extent of the travel, and whether it is in a populous or sparsely settled part of the city.”

See also *Jones v. Ogden City*, 32 Utah 221, 89 P. 1006, wherein the court quoted from the *Scoville* case with approval and held that a defect which had existed for three days had existed long enough to permit the case to go to the jury on the issue of notice.

It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that there is evidence from which the jury could have, and presumably did, find that the walk was generally fissured and cracked, and that these cracks had existed for more than four years. The jury also could have, and presumably

did, find that the crack which presented this difference in elevation also was one of the main cracks which caused the weakening of the sidewalk permitting a collapse. It is respectfully submitted that the general fissuring, cracking and subsidence which resulted in a difference in elevation of up to one inch and also caused a weakening of the sidewalk would support the jury's verdict as to the existence of a defect. The evidence that the defect had existed on a busy street for over four years would support the jury's verdict as to the issue of notice. Permitting a defect of this kind to exist four years or more is, under the cases, sufficient to support a jury verdict on the issue of negligence. The next issue relates to proximate causation.

POINT NO. II. IT IS NOT NECESSARY TO THE DOCTRINE OF PROXIMATE CAUSE THAT RESPONDENT'S NEGLIGENCE BE THE SOLE CAUSE, OR THAT APPELLANT'S INJURY OCCUR IN A MANNER WHICH MIGHT HAVE BEEN FORESEEN OR ANTICIPATED.

The record does not reflect the trial judge's reasons for directing a verdict. We believe, however, that he did so because the cavity was one of the causes of the sidewalk collapse, and there was little to indicate on the surface that the cavity existed. We confess that the cavity was *one* of the causes. We also confess that were the cavity the *sole* cause, we could only recover by showing that the city knew or should have known that the cavity existed. Here, however, the cavity was only one



of two causes—the other being the cracking and fissuring of the cement.

The city had notice of the dangerous crack. Its greatest danger was that it might cause people to trip and fall. But it was not *necessary* that a crack cause the injury only by tripping. The sidewalk failed along this very crack. The city would now escape liability, because the crack caused a fall through a collapse of the sidewalk, instead of by tripping the Appellant. The negligence of the city is in permitting this crack to go unrepaired for four years. This unrepaired crack was one of the main and direct causes of the sidewalk failure. The cavity was not the sole cause. By itself it would never have caused the injury. Cement in proper repair will support the weight of a man walking normally down the street. So long as the cement remains firm and unbroken, it will not collapse even though there is a fourteen inch cavity under it. It is thus fundamentally wrong to say that the cavity was the only cause of the collapse. It was the fissuring and cracking which weakened the cement so that it would not support the weight of a pedestrian. Apparently the cavity itself was old. The cement had supported the traffic without breaking. The immediate cause of the collapse was the cracking of the cement.

The law has always been that the negligence of the defendant need be only one of the concurring or contributing causes. It is not necessary for us to show that the cracking and fissuring of the sidewalk was the sole

cause of the injury. In the very recent Utah case, *Charcoz v. Bonneville Irrigation District*, 235 P. (2d) 780, the trial court instructed the jury that if an act of God be the primary cause of damage, there could be no recovery, irrespective of negligence that may have concurred with it in producing damage. The court held that this instruction was erroneous, that it is well settled that one is accountable if his negligence concurs with an act of God or with the negligence of a stranger in effecting damage. Here the cavity which was caused by persons or reasons unknown concurred with the fissuring, cracking and weakening of the sidewalk in causing the plaintiff to fall. This proposition that the negligence of the defendant need not be the sole cause is uniformly recognized by the cases. See, for a general text statement, 38 Am. Jur. 715, Negligence, Section 63.

The conclusion is thus unescapable. The city was negligent, because it permitted the cracked sidewalk to go unrepaired on one of the city's busiest streets for over four years. This unrepaired crack weakened the cement so that it would not support the weight of the appellant. This weakening, (added to the cavity) caused the walk to collapse. It was certainly one of the direct, contributing causes of the injury. Therefore, negligence and proximate cause were shown, and the verdict of the jury should have been sustained.

The cases, we believe, fully sustain our position that it is not necessary that the city be able to foresee the exact manner in which this dangerous, long-existing

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