1953

## Michael V. Maloney v. Salt Lake City : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

*City of Dayton v. Fox*, 254 Ky. 51, 70 S.W. 2d, 961:

"It is well settled that the liability of the city is not that of a guarantor or insurer of the safety of the pedestrian. The city is only bound to use reasonable care in making the streets and sidewalks safe and convenient for travel. It is under no obligation to provide against everything that may happen upon them, but only for such things as ordinarily exist or such as may be reasonably expected to occur to the users thereof when in the exercise of ordinary care for their own safety. Mere unevenness of the surface of the sidewalk is not such obvious dangerous or unsafe condition as to impress the mind of a reasonably prudent person as unsafe. Dangerous or unsafe conditions will not be presumed from the accident alone and the mere fact that a pedestrian slipped and fell upon the sidewalk is insufficient to warrant a recovery, unless it is shown that the condition of the walk at the place was necessarily dangerous or unsafe for pedestrians where in the exercise of ordinary care for their own safety, *and the unsafe condition was the proximate cause of the injury.*"

Under the rule above stated, it is clear that there was no proof of an actionable defect existing at the time the accident happened or even at the time the plaintiff visited the hole five days later, not considering, of course, the hole itself.

**POINT NO. II. MERE PROOF OF NEGLIGENCE WILL NOT SUPPORT A JUDGMENT. THE NEGLIGENCE**

PLEADED AND PROVED MUST HAVE BEEN A PROXIMATE CAUSE IN PRODUCING THE INJURY.

It is clear from plaintiff's own testimony that his fall was not in any wise caused by the differences in elevation between the City sidewalk and the property walk to the north, even assuming the evidence tended to show some difference in elevation existed at the time of the accident. Likewise, it is also clear that the difference in elevation between the east and west sides of the crack running north through the property entrance walk did not cause him to fall. He did not stumble, or turn his ankle, or slip, or in any other manner experience anything untoward because of either of these differences in elevation. His fall was occasioned by the collapsing of the piece of sidewalk which gave way under his weight because of the lack of support underneath due to the cavity.

Counsel assumes that because plaintiff testified there was a difference of  $\frac{1}{2}$  inch in elevation of the north cement over the City walk at the west end of the hole and one inch difference in elevation at the east end of the hole, this is proof there was a difference in elevation between the two slabs of cement running the entire length of the hole. There is absolutely no evidence on which to base such an assumption, nor is there any evidence as to what difference in elevation, if any, there may have been, assuming there was a difference. For aught that appears in plaintiff's evidence the difference in elevation was confined to the two places to the west and east ends of the hole. The two slabs of cement may have been absolutely

level all of the rest of the way along the north edge of the hole.

It is without dispute that the claimed difference in elevation to the east and west of the hole did not cause or permit any collapse at those places for no collapse actually occurred there, even though these two places were actually over the cavity. The photographs show these places to be perfectly intact.

Furthermore, the line between the two slabs of cement was not a crack, in the sense contended for by counsel. It was simply the separation, or expansion, joint between the two rows of cement put in at different times. Whether one was higher than the other when put in does not appear. Nor does such difference in elevation indicate a weakness or any element which would contribute to the collapse. There is no evidence there was a difference in elevation along the south side of the hole, and yet, the sidewalk gave way there as well as along the north side.

The all important fact in this case is that the sidewalk was not supported underneath. Had there been sustaining earth, the presence of the crack, such as counsel has created out of assumptions and speculations, would have caused no collapse and no accident. Yet he disclaims any attempt to impute notice of the presence of the cavity from notice of the presence of the crack. He asserts the crack weakened the sidewalk thus permitting it to collapse, so the crack became a contributing cause of the collapse and the attending accident, even though the

crack referred to was there from the time the sidewalk to the north was laid.

First he talks about a difference in elevation as being the defect of which the City had notice claiming such defect constituted a hazard. Then he abandons the element of elevation and says there was a crack and the crack was what caused the weakening. But the crack was not caused by the one side subsiding as in the case of the crack running north to the apartment entrance. There had always been a crack there as the city walk was put in first and a felt strip separated it from the cement later laid by the property owners. The subsiding of the city's walk, if any, did not create a crack so as to weaken the carrying power of the sidewalk to span the cavity underneath as the separation was already there before any subsidence. There had always been two separate strips of cement, the city sidewalk and the apartment entrance walk. The presence of a difference in elevation to the west and east of the hole does not indicate that the sidewalk there was weakened in a longitudinal direction so that it would not hold up as a span over a cavity existing underneath. This same crack, the separation of the city sidewalk from the owner's walk, runs the entire length of the two strips of cement as shown on Exhibit 3. The presence of this so called crack, elsewhere than at the hole, presents no reason for assuming that the sidewalk is actually weakened all along this course. The same conclusion must likewise follow as to that part of this same crack as it passes the hole.

So it appears from the very nature of the construction that the crack referred to by counsel had always existed. Of the existence of that crack the city concededly had notice, but that does not prove that the difference in elevation testified to by plaintiff had existed before the accident or that the city had notice thereof. And that difference in elevation is the defect of which counsel says the city had notice. The evidence is undisputed there was no difference in elevation before the accident or at a time shortly after and on the day of the accident as we have already demonstrated from the testimony by plaintiff and Mr. Cartwright, Mr. Smith, Mr. Turner, Mr. Jongejan, Mr. Gardner and Mr. Tipton. *The city was not called upon to prove that the difference in elevation testified to by plaintiff was a recent condition arising only after the accident. On the contrary, the burden was on plaintiff to show that the difference in elevation had existed a sufficient length of time before the accident so that notice of its presence could be imputed to the city.*

Counsel further injects into his description of the sidewalk, as a part of a visible defect of which he said the city had notice, the phrase "general fissured and cracked condition" of the sidewalk. By this he must refer to the cracks and fissures shown on Exhibit C, as being to the east and south of the hole. But those cracks and fissures cannot have had any causal connection with the collapse. They were still there after the accident, unaffected by the collapse, and having no connection with the hole in the sidewalk. These cracks and fissures constitute no hazard. The surface of the cement around them

and adjacent to them was perfectly even. The crack running north in the apartment entrance walk had no connection with the hole and remained there apart from the hole after the accident. It had no connection whatever with the hole. The repeated use of such general descriptive words and the total absence of any connection between the condition so described and the accident emphasizes the necessity we expressed in the beginning of making a thorough and detailed statement of the evidence.

The sidewalk laid by the City was not designed to span cavities underneath. It was designed and intended to rest upon supporting earth. As so designed and intended the mere presence of cracks therein would not affect its use with perfect safety. Suppose someone unknown to the city had excavated underneath the cement walk an hour before the plaintiff came along. The accident could have resulted the same as it did. Could any one say that the cracked and fissured condition would then have made the city liable for the accident? There is absolutely no distinction between such a situation and the one here involved except in the former we might know who made the excavation and when. All that the cracked and fissured condition, visible on any of the photos, could possibly do would be to furnish a condition upon which the real cause, the cavity, could operate, if it did. That the cracked and fissured condition referred to by counsel did not have even that aspect is demonstrated by the photographs themselves as there was no cave in at that location. But it must be constantly kept in mind that there is no evidence whatever that there was a fissured

and cracked condition in or immediately around the slab of sidewalk that did cave in, the only location on the sidewalk that could have any connection whatever with the cavity. The only crack shown to be in existence at the hole was the separation between the city walk and the walk to the north. How can it be said, then, that the cracked and fissured condition of the sidewalk was a contributing cause to the collapse of sidewalk?

Counsel states that: "The negligence of the city is in permitting this crack (separation between the city walk and the apartment entrance block) to go unrepaired for four years. The unrepaired crack was one of the main and direct causes of the sidewalk failure." What was unrepaired about this crack? Certainly the city had the right to install its 8 foot walk and the owner of the property install an abutting walk with a separation or expansion joint between. It would have been physically impossible not to have left some crack between the two walks. This same crack continues east and west of the cavity all along the two rows of concrete walk. (Exhibit 3) Counsel certainly does not mean that the city, to properly maintain its sidewalk, should have eliminated this crack so there would have been complete adhesion between the city walk and the apartment walk. He can only mean that the city should have repaired by eliminating the claimed difference in elevation between these rows of cement at the places testified to by plaintiff. Failure to do that is actually the only negligence that can be claimed or charged. But that negligence did not contribute to the collapsing since the same separation between the two



walks would be there regardless of whether there was a difference in elevation between the walks. The difference in elevation could have been repaired so as to eliminate it as a traffic hazard, but not, of course, to give the walk more carrying strength, either by chipping back a little on the north walk or by putting in a little black top along the city walk as Mr. Gardner testified had frequently been done. (R. 92) But the danger of collapse would have remained unabated.

We shall not attempt any protracted discussion of the question of proximate cause. Under the authorities cited by plaintiff the injury complained of must be a "direct", to use the language of the English case cited, or an "actual", to use the language of *Stone v. Railroad*, result of the negligence relied on.

In *Harrstrich v. O.S.L.R. Co.*, 70 Utah 552, 262 P. 100, where the negligence relied on was the failure to ring the bell or give proper warning before the train started across the highway, the court said:

"The controlling question, however, is, was the negligence of defendant the proximate cause of the injury sustained by plaintiff? It is a fundamental principle of law that no matter how gross the negligence complained of may be, it creates no liability unless it is the proximate cause of the injury."

In *Kawaguchi v. Bennett*, ..... Utah 189, P. 2d 109, this court quotes approvingly an instruction defining proximate cause as that cause which in natural continuous sequence, unbroken by any active intervening cause,

produces the injury, and without which the result would not have occurred.

In *Sumsion v. Streator Smith, Inc.*, 103 Utah 44, 132 P. 2d 680, the court says:

“It is a fundamental principle of the law of negligence that the person complaining has the burden of showing a causal connection between the negligent conduct complained of and the injury to plaintiff. . . .

“While deductions may be based on probabilities, the evidence must do more than merely raise a conjecture or show a probability. Where there are probabilities the other way equally or more potent the deductions are mere guesses and the jury should not be permitted to speculate. The rule is well established in this jurisdiction that where the proximate cause of injury is left to conjecture, plaintiff must fail as a matter of law.”

In *Hansen v. Clyde*, 89 Utah 31, 56 P. 2d 1366, 104 A.L.R. 943, in his dissenting opinion Judge Wolfe discusses the question of causal connection between the negligence relied on and the injury sustained. We refer particularly to his discussion of the 8th class, covering the omission class, where he stated in part:

“By the very nature of this type of alleged negligence it is often times difficult to say whether the accident would probably not have happened but for the omission, or, put in another way, that the omission contributed to the accident. It will be found in those cases where it is said such alleged cause is too remote, the true reason is that there is not sufficient probability that a supplying

of the omission would have avoided the accident."

2 *Restatement Law of Torts*, Sec. 431, the rule is stated thus:

"(a) In order to be a legal cause of another's harm, it is not enough that the harm would not have occurred had the actor not been negligent. Except as stated in Sec. 432 (2), this is necessary but it is not of itself sufficient. The negligence must also be a substantial factor as well as an actual factor in bringing about the plaintiff's harm. The word 'substantial' is used to denote the fact that the defendant's conduct has such an effect in producing the harm as to lead reasonable men to regard it as a cause, using the word in the popular sense in which there always lurks the idea of responsibility, rather than in the so-called 'philosophic sense,' which includes every one of the great number of events without which any happening would not have occurred. Each of these events is a cause in the so-called 'philosophic sense,' yet the effect of many of them is so insignificant that no ordinary mind would think of them as causes."

"(b) It is only where the evidence permits a reasonable finding that the defendant's conduct had some effect that the question whether the effect was substantial rather than negligible becomes important."

This is the same rule advocated by Professor Smith in the *Harvard Law Review* referred to in plaintiff's brief. A very interesting and instructive discussion of the various rules for determining proximate cause is con-

tained in the majority and minority opinions in *Mahoney v. Beatman*, 110 Conn. 184, 147 A. 762, 66 A.L.R. 1121, where the views of the various authorities in texts and articles are discussed. The dissenting opinion continued to uphold the rule that a "wrong doer, though not guilty of intentional wrong should be held for all the harmful results caused by his wrong doing. I think the limitation of liability for wrong doing to those results which follow in a natural sequence accords with an innate sense of justice in the ordinary man." Foreseeability of the resulting harm as the text is rejected by both opinions. And, yet, after the accident, in determining whether the results can be traced in natural sequence back to the negligence charged, the foreseeability of resulting harm would in all probability be demonstrated.

*New Orleans & N.E.R. Co. v. Burge*, 191 Miss. 303, 2 So. 2d 825, follows the rule in Reinstatement of Torts above quoted and says:

"An actor's negligent conduct is not a substantial factor in bringing about harm to another if it would have sustained even if the actor had not been guilty of the particular negligence charged."

In *Peterson v. Fulton*, 192 Minn. 360, 256 N.W. 901, the court refers to 16 Minn. Law Review 829, and states:

"The rule there advocated is that one's negligence should be a material element in causing another's injury before it can be said to be the proximate cause thereof. It is very interesting to note that A.L. Institute Restatement of Torts, has

abandoned altogether the words 'proximate cause' thereof and substituted therefor the words 'substantial factor'."

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